RENTAL BOOK OF THE ESTATES OF LESLIE OF BALQUHAIN, 1875 TO 1884
INTRODUCTION:
In this paper I intend to describe the contents of the above document, reference number MS2769/ll/22/1, which is preserved in the papers of Davidson and Garden, Advocates, Aberdeen in the Special Collections Centre of the University of Aberdeen. This ledger records income and expenditure for the different estates administered by the Trustees of Colonel Charles Leslie of Balquhain, deceased, for the years 1875 to 1884. These estates were located in the vicinity of the hill of Bennachie in Aberdeenshire. This book, and other material in the collection to which I will refer, provides a fascinating insight into the social and economic history of agriculture in this part of Scotland at that time. In my paper I will also draw upon various publications about life in the North East of Scotland which have a bearing on the information contained in the rental book.
In compiling this paper I wish to extend my thanks to the staff in the Wolfson Reading Room of the Special Collections Centre at the Sir Duncan Rice Library of Aberdeen University together with academic staff Jackson Armstrong, Jeff Oliver and Thomas Brochard who have been extremely supportive and helpful in my research efforts. I should also like to thank Colin H Miller and members of the Bennachie Landscapes Project Archives Group for their interest and support in the production of this paper. At this point it will be helpful for the reader to understand how this study came about.
BENNACHIE LANDSCAPES PROJECT:
Since 2012, the Bennachie Landscapes Project has been conducting a multifaceted study looking at, amongst other things, the history, archaeology, topography and botany of the hill of Bennachie in Aberdeenshire. The Project, which has been funded for two years by a grant from the Arts and Humanities Research Council, is a partnership between the Bailies of Bennachie and the University of Aberdeen. Membership of the Project group consists of academic staff from the University as well as volunteers from the Bailies of Bennachie, a non-profit-making, charitable organisation devoted to the upkeep and preservation of Bennachie and its history. 

Of particular interest to the Project has been the study of a site on the hill known as the “Colony”, a 19th-century squatters’ settlement which was established on the hill when it had the status of a “commonty”, the rough equivalent of common land south of the Border. At the start of the 19th century this land had not been divided up by the owners of the estates which surrounded the hill. The “Colonists” as they came to be known were able to build houses, clear and farm the land and use peat and other resources from the hill to scratch a living without having to pay rent or be subject to the whims of any landlord. In 1859 however, as a result of court action under the law in force at that time, the lairds of the nine estates surrounding Bennachie succeeded in having the commonty divided up amongst themselves. The squatters then had to sign prescriptive leases and pay rent for the rough ground which they had brought into cultivation on the hill and for the cottages which they had built themselves on their crofts. These primitive but sturdy dwellings had been constructed by their own hands from the stones, wood and heather they had gathered on the hill with no help from anyone else. As will be seen later in this paper they could also be evicted if they did not, or could not, pay the rent for the privilege of living in these homes. 
Work carried out by Project members has involved archaeological excavations at various Colony sites as well as field and documentary research in aspects such as botany, peat resources, aerial photography and the use of trackways on the hill past and present. Members of the Project also formed an Archives Group which initially studied a variety of texts in the comprehensive library and archives belonging to the Bailies of Bennachie which relate to the hill and to the Colony and its history. 

Further research has been carried out by group members in the extensive archives held by the University of Aberdeen’s Special Collections Centre which has opened up new and exciting information about rural life in Aberdeenshire in years gone by. The following paper is the result of initial research into these archives. Much more remains to be discovered.

DESCRIPTION OF THE RENTAL BOOK:
Apart from a record of the rents paid by tenants for the farms and other dwellings on the different estates there are also details of the cost of repairs carried out to such properties, maintenance of equipment, ditch and drainage work, dyke building, planting of trees and all the numerous other activities involved in the running of an estate at that time. The names of all the farms belonging to the Balquhain estates are recorded as well as those of individual tenants. Where contracts have been awarded for work carried out on the estates, the names of individuals carrying out such work are given. These include several examples of “Colony” folk being hired to dig ditches and build dykes. Payments to local clergy, monies paid to local parochial boards under Poor Law legislation, arrears of rent, advertising in the Aberdeen Journal and payments to solicitors for various legal matters are amongst various other issues which are also mentioned.

Of major interest for the Project are the lists of farms and the names of tenants contained in the document which are shown in the tables detailed below. The first fourteen pages of the ledger are taken up with the rental income for the various farms, crofts, fields and houses for the financial year 1875 which ran from 31/7/1875 to 31/7/1876. Five different estates are identified, namely Balquhain, Fetternear, Bograxie, Benachie and Insch. Since the farms around Insch are not in close proximity to the area under study by the Project information about them has not been included in this paper. The spelling of some farm names and their tenants is not always easy to make out in the rental book but from a comparison of entries year on year hopefully they are correct. If there are errors it would be helpful if these could be drawn to my attention.
Pages in the ledger are not numbered but full accounts of income and expenditure are given for each year from the 31st of July 1875 to the 31st of July 1884. For ease of reference a numbering system is used in this paper which begins each year’s accounts with page one for that year rather than trying to number all the pages in the book from 1875 to 1884. This should make it easier for anyone wishing to consult the records as they will not have to start counting from the beginning of the book each time they wish to check information in the text.

RENTS:
Headings in the section dealing with rental income list the names of individual tenants or their representatives alphabetically under the different estates. The name of each farm, house, croft or land being tenanted is then given and the rent paid for the year in old pounds, shillings and pence is recorded. The highest rent was charged in the year 1875/76 for the farm of Aquhorthies in Fetternear, tenanted by George Lumsden who paid £365 closely followed by George Bean at Mains of Balquhain at £360. The lowest rent recorded was for William Kesson’s representatives of one shilling for a house on the Hill of Fetternear. Further discussion of this topic will be covered later in this paper. 
LEASES:
The next heading in this section of the rental book deals with the dates on which tenants took up their leases and when these were due to expire. Many leases on the estates were for nineteen years which appears to have been the standard period for such contracts arrived at over the years through custom and practice. According to a number of writers on the subject of agriculture in North East Scotland it was thought that during such an extended period a tenant farmer would experience both good and bad growing seasons which would average out over the piece. [See for example Rural Life in Victorian Aberdeenshire, William Alexander, edited by Ian Carter, published 1992, page 10]. Other leases were for shorter periods, in some cases from year to year. Carter suggests elsewhere that this enabled landlords to re-organise their estates more readily when they wished to do so and that crofters tended to have shorter leases than small farmers. [Farm Life in North East Scotland, 1840-1914, The Poor Man’s Country, Ian Carter, published 1979, page 65]. This distinction seems to be borne out by the evidence presented in the Balquhain rental book where houses and crofts seem predominately to have had leases on a yearly basis although there are some exceptions to this rule notably in the case of two “Colonists” who had nineteen year leases on their crofts on Bennachie! 
ROAD MONIES:
Other headings include “Road Monies” which appears to be a levy on tenants towards the cost of building roads in the local area. From my reading on the history of Aberdeenshire this work was undertaken by local landlords to improve communication within their district and to connect to major centres of population elsewhere, before such responsibilities were taken over by local authorities. In previous years local men between the ages of fifteen and sixty were actually expected to contribute several days unpaid labour each year on building such roads where required by the local landlord. The standard of road building under this system was not found to be satisfactory however. As a result according to T C Smout and Sydney Wood, “Increasingly this system of ‘statute labour’ was converted into money payments of around three pence a day voluntarily until 1845, thereafter compulsory till the system vanished in 1883.” [Scottish Voices, published 1990, page 264]. 
The rental book appears to show a variation of this system however with the sums involved being somewhat higher than the three pence a day levy in lieu of actual labour mentioned above. For example George Bean at Mains of Balquhain paid the highest sum under this heading in 1875 of four pounds, ten shillings whereas other tenants had only a few shillings to pay or nothing at all. On Bennachie Margaret McDonald was assessed in 1875 to pay one shilling and four old pence in Road Monies whereas Alex. Porter had nothing to pay.
Information contained in a lease dated 1881 in the Davidson and Garden collection under the reference MS2769/I/76/1 suggests how a tenant’s obligation to pay road monies was calculated. In article nine of the lease it states “The Tenants shall be bound in proportion to the amount of their Rents, to pay-----their respective proportions of poor’s rates, school rates, road money, and cattle disease assessment, and any other rates or taxes imposed on Tenants by any future Act of Parliament”. When an analysis is carried out of the sums involved it is interesting to note that in the majority of cases the road monies levy works out at 1.25% of the overall annual rent for the property concerned. This percentage holds true for large and small units with Alexander Littlejohn paying nine old pence road monies against a rent of three pounds per annum whereas George Bean was paying four pounds ten old shillings in road monies against a rent of three hundred and sixty pounds a year. This percentage does not apply however to other properties so perhaps some other means of assessment was also at work. It could be that some farmers were assessed on the basis of how many able bodied workers they employed on their farms or some other criteria. Until further information on this topic is available, which may well be hidden in the archives, the way in which this levy was implemented remains unclear.   

CATTLE DISEASE ASSESSMENT:
A further heading in the accounts is that of “Cattle Disease Assessment” which ranges from zero in some cases to six shillings, one pence for the farm of Aquhorthies. It is not clear if such a levy was in place for the estates of Balquhain before 1875, as this would require access to earlier rental books for the estate, if such volumes can be found. Reference to written material about agriculture in the North East of Scotland at this time however would seem to suggest that this charge had been imposed on tenants going back at least to 1865. In that year there was an outbreak of the cattle disease called Rinderpest in this country which had a devastating effect on all cattle farmers. According to William Alexander, the disease was thought to have originated in stock which had been imported in cattle from Russia. Various schemes, some more effective than others, were set up throughout the country to control the spread of the disease and to compensate farmers for cattle which had to be destroyed. [The Rinderpest in Aberdeenshire, the Outbreak of 1865 and how it was stamped out, William Alexander, Aberdeen Free Press, published 1882, page 74]. 
One of the most effective schemes seems to have been that set up by the Royal Northern Agricultural Society in Aberdeenshire through the efforts of William McCombie, who was a noted cattle breeder at Tillyfour near Alford. At a public meeting on the 18th of August 1865 the Society passed a resolution to set up a voluntary fund to compensate farmers and to employ vets and inspectors to ensure the eradication of the disease. Contributions to the fund were set at the rate of one penny in the pound on the agricultural rental of proprietors and tenants. Such was the success of the scheme in Aberdeenshire that the sum of £4000 was quickly raised which was about four fifths of the total realisable in the County by such a levy. By January 1866 a total of three hundred and eighty four animals had been killed or died as a result of the disease in the nine Aberdeenshire parishes affected at that time. It would appear from Alexander’s report on the outbreak that the nearest farms to Bennachie which were afflicted by the disease were Westerton in the parish of Forgue belonging to a Mr Ogg and an adjoining farm belonging to a Mrs Booth. For the whole of the UK a total of 125,000 cattle died during this outbreak and 110,183 healthy cattle were destroyed to prevent further disease. 
It is unclear however as to whether the “Cattle Disease Assessment” noted in the Balquhain rental book was initiated by the Rinderpest outbreak in 1865 or was introduced at a later date following another cattle disease but on balance it would seem to me that the former outbreak was the trigger for this levy. Since all eighty-four parishes in Aberdeenshire joined the original Aberdeenshire Rinderpest Association it would appear that the Balquhain estate was still making contributions to this scheme in 1875.
Although the individual sums involved are not that great by today’s standards it is interesting to note the variation in the sums levied on different tenants. There may therefore have been a change in the way the levy was calculated from that originally established in 1865 but whether this was due to variation in the number of cattle owned by tenants or some other reason would require further inquiry. From a cursory examination of the data however there would seem to be a correlation between the rental for each farm or property and the amount of the assessment, with higher value properties paying more and smaller crofts and houses paying as small an amount as one penny or having a nil assessment altogether. 
IMPROVEMENT WORKS:
The last heading, which is not examined in detail in this paper, is one which deals with interest payments on monies lent to tenants either by the proprietor himself or by Government grant for improvement works. There were so few entries under this heading that it was not considered appropriate to comment on this topic in this paper. An example from the year 1875/76 however, which might illustrate the point, would be that of Peter Johnston, tenant of a croft at Middleton who was assessed to pay six pounds, nine shillings for a Government advance and nine shillings and eight old pence to the proprietor. These payments were in addition to his rent of £22, Road Monies of four shillings and Cattle Disease Assessment of five old pence. There were another six tenants making such payments in the first year of these records and a similar number in subsequent years.
MISCELLANEOUS ISSUES:
Following the rental income data in the first fourteen pages of the accounts in the rental book there are entries in the next twenty-three pages for the year 1875/76 covering issues such as repairs and improvements to property on the estates, arrears of rent and work carried out on the digging of ditches, building dykes etc. Selected information from these pages relevant to the Colony will be covered later in this paper.

CONTENT OF THE RENTAL BOOK: 
The following table, which covers the financial year 1875/76, will give an indication of the wealth of information which is contained in this ledger. In the text “reps” stands for “representatives”.
	TENANT
	FARM NAME and LEASE DATES
	RENT (old pounds, shillings, pence)
	ROAD MONIES
	CATTLE DISEASE ASSESSMENT

	BALQUHAIN
	
	
	
	

	John Black
	Croft at Whitecross, 1865 to 1884
	5.0.0
	0.1.3
	0.0.1

	George Bean
	Mains of Balquhain, 1874 to 1893
	360.0.0
	4.10.0
	O.6.0

	William Downie
	Fulrigg Croft, 1861 to 1870
	12.0.0
	0.1.9
	0.0.3

	William Fraser
	Croft of Tullos, 1865 to 1884
	5.10.0
	
	

	Ditto
	Land added to ditto from Croft at Whitecross, formerly occupied by J. Noble, 1874 to 1884
	3.10.0
	2.3.0
	0.0.2

	John Grant
	Croft at Middleton, 1864 to 1882
	13.18.0
	0.2.0
	0.0.3

	Peter Johnston
	Ditto, no lease
	22.0.0
	0.4.0
	0.0.5

	John Henderson, blacksmith
	Ditto at Netherton, yearly
	12.0.0
	0.1.9
	0.0.2

	William Mair, senior, George Mair, William Mair, junior
	Oldtown, 1862 to 1881
	230.0.0
	1.13.7
	0.3.10

	James Moir
	Croft at Netherton, 1863 to 1884
	20.8.6
	0.2.11
	0.0.4

	John Moir
	Blairbowie East, 1865 to 1884
	37.11.6
	0.9.5
	0.0.7

	James Moir, junior
	Croft at Backhill, 1870, yearly
	5.0.0
	0.1.3
	0.0.1

	Robert Mathieson
	Ditto at Netherton, 1861 to 1880
	13.0.0
	0.1.11
	0.0.3

	John Middleton, shoemaker
	House and yard, Whitecross, formerly occupied by J.Noble, yearly
	4.10.0
	0.1.1
	0.0.1

	James McKnight
	Boghead and part of Backhill, 1865 to 1884
	141.0.0
	1.15.3
	0.2.4

	Robert Nicol
	Croft on Blairbowie, 1865 to 1884
	33.0.0
	0.8.3
	0.0.7

	Proprietors
	Westside, for crop 1875
	Nil
	
	

	John Nicol
	Cappernook, 1865 to 1884
	75.0.0
	0.18.9
	0.1.3

	Alexander Nicol
	Cowbyres, 1865 to 1884
	175.0.0
	2.3.9
	0.2.11

	John Nicol
	Whitecross, 1865 to 1884
	120.0.0
	1.10.0
	0.2.0

	Mrs Ririe
	Croft at Backhill, 1865 to 1884
	20.0.0
	0.5.0
	0.0.4

	John Robertson
	Ditto, yearly
	5.0.0
	0.1.3
	0.0.1 

	Alexander Singer
	Blairbowie West, 1865 to 1884
	18.18.9
	0.4.9
	0.0.3

	Robert Smith
	Newbigging, 1861 to 1880
	120.0.0
	0.17.6
	0.2.0

	John Smith
	Bogmill, 1864 to 1883
	80.0.0
	0.11.8
	0.1.4

	Ditto
	Tullos, 1858 to 1877
	50.0.0
	0.7.4
	0.0.10

	William Smith
	Middleton of Balquhain, 1869 to 1888
	180.0.0
	2.5.0
	0.3.0

	Ditto
	Field on Home Farm( Murrison’s Park), let for crops 1874-1877
	13.10.0
	0.3.5
	0.0.3

	William Smith
	Croft at Netherton, yearly
	4.0.0
	0.1.0
	0.0.1

	William Thomson
	Melunbrae, 1861 to 1880
	65.0.0
	0.9.6
	0.1.1

	John Thom
	Croft at Middleton, 1863 to 1882
	4.0.0
	0.0.7
	0.0.1

	Mrs John Watt
	Netherton, 1861 to 1880
	150.0.0
	1.1.11
	0.2.6

	John Watt
	Newton, 1861 to 1880
	80.0.0
	0.11.8
	0.1.4

	FETTERNEAR
	
	
	
	

	Alexander Adam
	House and yard, Ardiebrown, yearly
	2.0.0
	
	

	William Adam
	Croft at Greatstone, 1864 to 1883
	29.0.0
	0.4.3
	0.0.6

	John Adam
	Sawmill and croft, Whitehaugh, 1864 to 1883
	15.0.0
	0.3.9
	0.0.3

	John Allan, carpenter
	House and crofts, ditto, yearly
	9.0.0
	0.2.3
	0.0.2

	Robert Begg
	House and yard, Greatstone, yearly
	2.0.0
	
	

	William Bain
	Croft of Ardiebrown, 1869 to 1888 
	12.0.0
	0.3.0
	0.0.2

	John Bowie
	Croft of Aquhorthies, 1863 to 1882
	38.0.0
	0.5.6
	0.0.8

	John Blake, merchant
	Shop at Whitehaugh, 1871 to 1890
	20.0.0
	0.5.0
	0.0.4

	James Caithness
	Holylind, 1872 to 1891
	20.0.0
	0.5.0
	0.0.4

	Robert Craigen’s reps.
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1861 to 1880
	14.0.0
	0.2.0
	0.0.3

	William Craigen
	Ditto, 1861 to 1880
	6.6.0
	0.0.11
	0.0.1

	Alexander Cruikshank
	Blacksmith’s Croft, yearly
	6.0.0
	0.2.5
	0.0.1

	Robert Craigmyle
	House and yard, Boatleys, yearly
	0.10.0
	
	

	John Donald’s reps.
	Boatleys, 1862 to 1881
	82.0.0
	1.0.6
	0.1.5

	Ditto
	Milton of Kemnay, 1867 to 1881
	20.0.0
	0.5.0
	0.0.4

	Ditto
	House at Boatleys, 1867 to 1881
	2.0.0
	
	

	John Davie
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear and Burnside, 1870 to 1880
	15.0.0
	0.3.9
	0.0.3

	John Davie, blacksmith
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1861 to 1880
	12.0.0
	
	

	Ditto
	3 acres, formerly Kesson’s, 1864 to 1880
	3.0.0
	0.2.0
	0.0.3

	Peter Davie’s reps.
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1861 to 1880
	11.0.0
	0.1.7
	0.0.2

	Widow Davie’s reps.
	House and yard at Fetternear, yearly
	0.5.0
	
	

	Elspet Davidson
	House and yard, Holylind, yearly
	2.0.0
	
	

	James Duncan’s reps.
	Croft at Ardiebrown, 1861 to 1880
	8.0.0
	0.1.3
	0.0.2

	William Dawson
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1858 to 1877
	12.0.0
	0.1.9
	0.0.3

	Alexander Edwards
	Meal Mill and Croft, Whitehaugh, yearly
	22.0.0
	0.5.6
	0.0.5

	Alexander Emslie
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1855 to 1874
	7.0.0
	0.1.0
	0.0.1

	William Emslie
	Ditto,1861 to 1880
	9.0.0
	0.1.4
	0.0.2

	James Ewen’s reps.
	Croft on Boatleys, yearly
	4.10.0
	0.1.0
	0.0.1

	William Forbes
	Croft at Ardiebrown, 1861 to 1881
	10.10.0
	0.1.6
	0.0.2

	Alexander Findlay
	Haugh, yearly
	0.2.6
	
	

	John Gaull
	Whitehaugh,1867 to 1886
	68.0.0
	0.17.0
	0.1.1

	Alexander Gammie
	House and Croft, Whitehaugh, yearly
	4.10.0
	0.1.0
	0.0.1

	James Grant
	House and Crofts on Hill of Fetternear, 1861 to 1880
	50.0.0
	
	

	Ditto
	Land added £3.5.0, less £0.5.0 deduction for school ground, ditto
	3.0.0
	0.7.9
	0.0.11

	John Gray
	Keithney and Woodland, 1858 to 1877
	42.0.0
	0.6.1
	0.0.9

	Ditto
	Cummingspark, 1862 to 1877
	3.10.0
	0.0.6
	

	Ditto
	Land from Aquhorthies, 1863 to 1877
	33.0.0
	0.4.10
	0.0.7

	Ditto
	Land from Keithney, 1864 to 1877
	27.0.0
	0.3.11
	0.0.5

	James Gray
	Easter Aquhorthies, 1863 to 1882
	80.0.0
	0.11.8
	0.1.4

	John Hunter
	South Keithney, 1869 to 1876
	60.0.0
	0.15.0
	0.1.0

	John Hutcheon
	Croft at Ardiebrown, 1871 to 1890
	8.0.0
	0.2.0
	0.0.1

	John Jessieman
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, rent £9.0.0 for first five years and £10.0.0 for remainder of lease, 1873 to 1892
	9.0.0
	0.2.3
	0.0.2

	James Inkson
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1873 to 1892
	10.0.0
	0.2.6
	0.0.2

	John Joss
	House and Croft, Whitehaugh, yearly
	5.0.0
	0.1.3
	0.0.1

	William Kesson’s reps.
	Ditto on Hill of Fetternear, yearly
	0.1.0
	
	

	George Lumsden
	Aquhorthies, 1863 to 1882
	365.0.0
	2.13.3
	0.6.1

	Thomas Maitland
	House and yard, Whitehaugh, yearly
	2.10.0
	
	

	William Melvin
	Boatleys, 1864 to 1883
	3.15.0
	0.0.7
	0.0.1

	Rev. D. Mitchell’s reps.
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1860 to 1879
	5.0.0
	0.0.9
	0.0.1

	William McGregor
	Ditto, 1861 to 1880
	5.10.0
	0.0.10
	0.0.1

	William McLeod
	Netherton, 1861 to 1880
	112.0.0
	0.16.4
	0.1.11

	Mrs Ann McLeod
	House and ground, Holylind, yearly
	2.0.0
	
	

	Peter McKay
	House and yard, Whitehaugh, yearly
	3.0.0
	
	

	James Raeburn
	Denhead of Aquhorthies, 1863 to 1882
	63.0.0
	0.9.2
	0.1.1

	Alex Reid, senior and junior
	Overtown, 1869 to 1888
	130.0.0
	1.12.6
	0.2.2

	Peter Reid
	Croft on Overtown, yearly
	4.0.0
	0.1.0
	0.0.1

	James Reid
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1861 to 1880
	11.0.0
	0.1.7
	0.0.2

	Robert Robertson
	Woodmill of Keithney, 1858 to 1877
	18.0.0
	0.2.8
	0.0.4

	William Robertson
	Croft at Aquhorthies, 1863 to 1882
	22.7.0
	0.3.3
	0.0.5

	School Board,Chapel of Garioch, ground rent of school
	Hill of Fetternear, 1861 to 1960
	0.5.0
	
	

	Alexander Stephen
	Croft of Overtown, 1855 to 1874
	13.0.0
	0.1.11
	0.0.3

	John Stephen
	House and yard, Whitehaugh, yearly
	0.10.0
	
	

	Peter Walker
	Croft on Hill of Fetternear, 1869 to 1888
	8.0.0
	0.2.0
	0.0.2

	Charles Walker
	Ditto, 1868 to 1877
	10.10.0
	0.2.7
	0.0.2

	John Wilson and Elizabeth Bridgefoot
	House and yard and House and Croft, Whitehaugh, 1872 to 1891
	6.10.0
	0.1.7
	0.0.1

	George Watson
	House and Croft, Whitehaugh, yearly
	2.0.0
	
	

	Andrew Grant, estate carpenter
	G. Wood’s House, rent free, yearly
	
	
	

	BOGRAXIE
	
	
	
	

	John Aitken
	Croft on Bograxie, 1861 to 1870
	18.0.0
	0.5.11
	0.0.5

	William Donald
	Ditto, 1873 to 1892
	8.11.0
	
	

	John Forbes
	Ditto, 1873 to 1892
	28.0.0
	0.7.0
	0.0.5

	John Forbes
	Ditto, 1873 to 1882
	6.0.0
	0.0.11
	0.0.1

	William Milne
	Ditto, 1861 to 1870
	10.0.0
	0.3.3
	0.0.3

	Mrs Morgan
	Ditto, 1862 to 1879
	6.0.0
	0.0.11
	0.0.1

	John Riddel
	Ditto, 1873 to 1892
	43.0.0
	0.10.9
	0.0.9

	James and John Riddel
	Ditto, 1874 to 1893
	26.0.0
	0.6.6
	0.0.5

	John Smith’s reps.
	Ditto, 1859 to 1878
	15.0.0
	0.2.2
	0.0.3

	BENNACHIE
	
	
	
	

	John Esson
	House on Benachie, commenced 1859, yearly
	3.10.0
	0.0.10
	

	Susan Findlater
	House and yard, Benachie, ditto
	1.0.0
	
	

	James Garden
	Croft on Benachie, commenced 1859, expires 1878
	1.5.0
	
	

	Alexander Littlejohn
	Ditto, commenced 1859, yearly
	3.0.0
	0.0.9
	

	James Littlejohn
	Ditto, commenced 1859, yearly
	2.10.0
	0.0.6
	

	Margaret McDonald
	Ditto, commenced 1859, expires 1878
	5.7.6
	0.1.4
	0.0.1

	Alexander Porter
	House and yard on Benachie, yearly
	1.0.0
	
	

	INSCH
	
	
	
	

	Data not recorded as farms outwith area under study
	
	
	
	


RENT PAYMENTS OVER THE YEARS:
An examination of the annual rents and other sums paid by tenants for the years following 1875/76 up to the last set of entries for the year 1883/84 shows that these payments remained pretty static and in some cases actually reduced over the period concerned. Some rents increased but this seems to have occurred when a property became vacant and the new tenant was charged a higher rent than the one set previously. George Bean at Mains of Balquhain was paying £360 each year from 1875 to 1880 but along with all other tenants received a 10% “abatement” that year which meant that he only paid £324. In 1883/84, the last year covered by the rental book, George Bean’s rent was £330. 

It is difficult however to make a year by year comparison of all the properties in the rental book since it is based on a system where the names of tenants are organised alphabetically for the different estates. As new tenants appear it is not always clear which property they have taken over as there are numerous crofts and houses listed as being “on the Hill of Fetternear” or elsewhere without any other identifying description. Although some farm names are distinctive others are not so easily identified. More precise comparisons can be made however if the name of the tenant and the name of his or her dwelling remain the same from year to year but to date this exercise has not been carried out. A couple of examples however may help to illustrate what was happening. In the financial year 1875/76 John Henderson, blacksmith at a croft at Netherton, was paying £12 a year in rent. In 1876/77 this croft would appear to have been taken over by a Charles Skinner who was assessed to pay £16. Incidentally this name is entered in the record out of alphabetical sequence in the place where John Henderson’s name appeared the previous year which is why it is possible to make this particular comparison for the croft in question. Such entries are uncommon however and the record is predominantly organised alphabetically.

Another example shows that rents did not always go up when a new tenant took over a property. In 1875/76 George Lumsden at Aquhorthies was paying £365 a year in rent. In the following year the tenant’s name is given as George Johnston and he was only paying £360 in rent. One further example, this time of rent being maintained at the same level, is given in 1875/76 with a Thomas Maitland living at a house and yard at Whitehaugh when his rent was shown to be two pounds, ten shillings. The following year the tenant’s name has changed to Widow Maitland but she was assessed as paying the same rent as her late husband. Other examples could be given but these three cases will perhaps illustrate that rental payments did not automatically increase year on year, as might have been expected, and in some cases actually reduced.     

RENT ARREARS:
1875 to 1876:

On page 15 of the accounts for 1875/76 the heading appears “Arrears of rents crop 1874” which details rent arrears carried forward from the previous year. These are stated to amount to the sum of £112.5.6 from which was deducted “arrears stated against Mrs John Garden, Benachie, as arranged with W. Leslie, £8.15.9”. This left arrears totalling £103.9.9 for all tenants on the estates to be carried forward to the new financial year.
What is interesting here is that Mrs John Garden seems to have paid off her rent arrears for the previous year or to have had them cleared for her by someone with the authority to do so on behalf of the estate. The rental book states that the arrears were cleared “by arrangement” with W. Leslie who, one might assume, was related to the previous owner the late Col. Charles Leslie of Balquhain. Fagen, [p33], notes that Jane Garden and her granddaughter Elspet moved off Bennachie in 1873/74 but for this entry to appear in the rental book in the year 1875/76 her departure would have to have taken place between the 31st of July 1874 and the 31st of July 1875. 
On page 23 of these accounts arrears of rent for the year are given as follows:
William Smith, Middleton of Balquhain    £27.7.3 

William Thomson, Melunbrae                    £76.9.2

William Milne, Bograxie                               £2.10.0

Alexander Littlejohn, Benachie                   £14.14.0

James Littlejohn, Benachie                          £3.15.6

Margaret McDonald, Benachie                  £11.6.5

D R L Grant, esq., Insch Shootings             £35.0.0

As might be expected those living on the Colony on Benachie were not the only ones with rent arrears but it is interesting to note that John Esson, Susan Findlater and Alexander Porter are not on the list of defaulters and that the total number of tenants in arrears is not all that high. This is not the case in later years when the effects of poor harvests, cheap imports of grain and other problems affected the rental income of farmers in Aberdeenshire in common with other parts of the country. These issues are described in a number of texts, in particular Rural Life in Victorian Aberdeenshire, William Alexander, by Ian Carter, pages 18-19.

Turning next to look at the situation in succeeding years the names of other Balquhain tenants who were listed as being in arrears of rent have been omitted in order to concentrate on the circumstances of the Colonists.
1876 to 1877:
The names of tenants living on Benachie, given on page nine of the accounts for this year, are the same as those given above for the previous year. Rent levels remain the same as well as Road Monies for John Esson of 10 old pence. Arrears of rent on page twenty-seven of the accounts for this year are:
James Garden              £0.12.6

Alexander Littlejohn   £17.14.9

James Littlejohn          £6.6.0

Margaret McDonald   £14.15.3
 1877 to 1878:
On page nine of the rental list for this year four of the tenants on Benachie are no longer listed, namely James Garden, Alexander and James Littlejohn and Margaret McDonald. Rent levels remain the same as for previous years as well as John Esson’s Road Monies assessment. There are no rent arrears mentioned for any of the remaining colonists: John Esson, Susan Findlater and Alex. Porter. On page fifteen of the accounts for this year however under the heading “Arrears of rent crop 1876” the following entry is made: “Deduct amount stated against James Garden, Benachie, the place having been vacant during the period on which the rent was charged, £0.12.6”. It would appear therefore that James Garden died or left the colony at some point during the rental year 31/07/1875 to 31/07/1876 and that the rent which would have been due was deducted from the arrears carried forward into 1877/78.
What is interesting here is that during this year, which for account purposes ran from 31/07/1877 to 31/07/1878, information is given about the Littlejohns being evicted from the colony. On page 16 of the record for this year the following entries appear under the heading of rent arrears:
Alex. Littlejohn, Benachie, now removed £17.14.9

James Littlejohn, Benachie, now removed £6.6.0


Margaret McDonald, Benachie, now removed, £14.15.3

An entry on page 26 of the accounts for this year under the heading “Law Bills” also quotes the sum of £13.18.0 as being the cost of “removing tenants” and a further sum of £2.10.0, “by Sheriff Officers amount ejecting the Littlejohns”.

Jennifer Fagen, in her book The Bennachie Colony Project, published by the Bailies of Bennachie in 2011, [page7], suggests that the Littlejohns were evicted in the early Autumn of 1878 but does not specify a date as to when this event occurred. As the cost of the evictions is included in the Balquhain accounts for 1877/1878 the event must have happened however before the 31st of July 1878.
The Rev. Campbell in The Book of Bennachie says, [page 105], “The Littlejohns, Hugh and James had stopped paying- or been unable to continue paying- the rent of £2, yet refused to move”. No mention is made of Alexander Littlejohn who according to the rental book was the tenant, not Hugh, although the Rev. Campbell says “and amongst them the old man himself as he lay on his bed, were lifted out and set by the roadside”. It is assumed that it is Alexander Littlejohn to whom he is referring.
Fagen, [page 40], attempts to explain this anomaly by suggesting that by 1878 more Littlejohns must have joined the Colony, one of whom was named James and that it was this James and his brother Hugh who were taken to court over their rent arrears. She speculates therefore that it was these two brothers who were evicted with their children and “this would have occurred several months before their father’s eviction”. Since the Balquhain rental book lists Alexander and James as tenants on Benachie however for the years 1875-77 but no longer lists them as leaseholders in the financial record for 1877-78 it could be argued that it was the entire Littlejohn clan who was evicted in 1878. It may be that Hugh appeared in court in place of his father Alexander, who was obviously not in good health at the age of 84 at the time of his eviction. As indicated above the eviction had to have occurred before the end of July 1878 for it to be recorded in the rental book for that year.
In the census information given by Fagen for 1871 however only Hugh and Alexander are listed as being heads of households at Shepherd’s Lodge, numbers one and two, and there is no mention of James. He does however appear on the list of tenants in the Balquhain rental book from 1875 to 1878. James did not arrive on Bennachie it would seem therefore until after 1871. It is curious therefore that Hugh and James were the only folk who were taken to court over rent arrears. Perhaps this is an area for further research but as some of the court records for this period are missing it will not be easy to establish exactly what happened in the Littlejohn court case.

It would appear that James Littlejohn, sometime between 1871 and 1875, has taken over the lease of a property on the hill which belonged to one of his relatives as the lease is dated from 1859 in the rental book which starts in 1875 and was obviously not a new croft. He is either a new member of the extended Littlejohn family who moved to the hill as suggested by Fagen or the child James who was born in 1836 to Alexander and Elizabeth Littlejohn. Unfortunately details of his life history are not easy to obtain nor is it even known if he survived from 1836 to 1875. Fagen has nothing to say about him apart from including him on a list of Littlejohn children, [page 37], and quoting his presence, aged five, in the 1841 Chapel of Garioch census. He does not appear in any of the other census returns for succeeding years quoted by Fagen.
It is also not clear from the rental book if Margaret McDonald was evicted for her rent arrears or if she left Bennachie before this action could take place. From the wording in the rental book however it is highly likely that she was evicted since the rental book record would have been worded differently had she left for any other reason. 

1878 to 1879:

In this year the list of tenants on Benachie remains the same with John Esson, Susan Findlater and Alex. Porter paying the same rent as before. They do not appear on the list of seven tenants who are recorded as being in arrears of rent at this time.
1879 to 1880:

Entries for this year remain the same as given above for the previous year but the total number of tenants with rent arrears has increased to twenty-three.
1880 to 1881:

During this year the three remaining tenants on Benachie received a ten percent “abatement” in their rent which with Road Monies added amounted to £5.3.10 for all three individuals. There was now a total of twenty-six tenants with rent arrears including a James Esson at a croft on Boatleys farm amounting to £1.17.0. Whether this individual was related to the Esson family from the Colony is impossible to say but the likelihood is that he was one of the Esson clan in the area.
1881 to 1882:

The names of tenants on Benachie remain the same as does their rent. No arrears are reported for the Colony.

1882 to 1883:

Entries in the rental book remain the same as the previous year for the Colony tenants.

1883 to 1884:

Rent payments for Benachie tenants remain the same but Road Monies have been reduced for John Esson to seven old pence! There are seventeen tenants listed as being in arrears of rent but none in the Colony.
WORKS CARRIED OUT ON BENACHIE:

At various points in the rental book there are references to works being completed on Benachie by a number of different individuals and these are listed here according to the year in which the works were carried out. These entries all appear under the heading “Outlays on improvements and repairs”. There are also references to members of the Colony being paid for work which they carried out on various parts of the estate but these I will address in the next and final section of this paper.

1875 to 1876:

On page 23 of the record for this year the following entry appears under the heading “Planting on Benachie”: “By amount paid [to] Thomas Milne for planting 230 acres on Benachie, £230” dated 24/9/1874.
1876 to 1877:

On page 24 for this year it is recorded “by amount paid for cutting surface ditches on Benachie, £14.6.10”. No name is given as to who carried out this work.
1878 to 1879:

On page 23 under the heading “Planting on Benachie” appears: “by amount of Thos. Milne’s contract for planting 230 acres on Benachie at 30 shillings per acre, £345, less payment made on account 15/7/1876, £230”.
On page 27 under the heading “Estate ditches” the following entry appears: “By amount paid to account of William Cadger’s contract for cutting 8750 yards of ditches on Benachie, £13. Ditto 7/7/1879 further amount, £10.8.0, balance paid 9/7/1879, £33.9.6”.
1879 to 1880:

On page 29 under “Planting on Benachie” the following appears: “Thos Milne’s second contract, £65 plus £2.8.6”.
1880 to 1881:

On page 33 appears the following:“To carting stones from Benachie, £6.10.0”, no name given.
1881 to 1882:

Under the heading “Planting on Benachie” on page 32 of this year appears: “Thomas Milne’s second contract, 71 acres South slope, paid 23/6/1882, £41.10.0” and “(230 plus 71=301 acres, total £453.18.6”.
WORKS CARRIED OUT BY COLONY MEMBERS:

1875 to 1876:
On page 26 of the accounts for this year under the heading “Miscellaneous payments” the following appears: “James Garden’s fee for valuation at Mains of Balquhain including stamp, £4.14.0”. Whether this is the same James Garden who appears as a tenant on Benachie in the same year is impossible to say. It is not clear what service was provided in the way of “valuation” which sounds as if it might be a professional service of some sort. It may be therefore that this is not the same individual and that it is a coincidence that the names are the same. 
1876 to 1877:

On page 23 of this year the entry appears for Mains of Balquhain farm: “by amount of John Esson’s contract for building dykes, £53.15.10”.

1877 to 1878:

Under the heading “Improvements” for this year on page 27 for Mains of Balquhain appears the following: “by amount of John Esson’s contract for building dykes, £60.10.1” and “by amount of ---for further extension of dykes, £82.11.0”.
1878 to 1879:
On page 28 of this year there appears the following:“by amount of John Esson’s estimate for building 178 yards dyke along public road at Boatleys, paid 19/6/1879, £13.7.0”.
1879 to 1880:

On page 29 appears the following:“Paid 4/5/1880 (to) John Esson (for) 148 yards of dyke, public road at Boatleys being addition to £13.7.0 expended in 1879- £46.14.8”.
1880 to 1881:

On page 33 of this year appears: “by amount of John Esson’s estimate for cutting 6850 yards of ditches on Ward of Tullos, Benachie, paid on 27/8/1880, £39.11.0” and “ by expense of contract £2.10.6, total £42.1.6”.
1882 to 1883:

Under the heading “Improvements and Repairs”on page 25 for the farm of Melunbrae appears the following: “Payment 8/12/1882 to J. Littlejohn for causewaying byres”. If this gentleman is from the same family of Littlejohns who were evicted from Benachie in 1878 it would appear the local factor was not averse to employing a Littlejohn four years after the event and that Mr J. Littlejohn was prepared to accept work from this estate despite the way the family was treated. Times being as hard as they were for farm workers and labourers in the late 19th century it would not be surprising if this individual was related to the folk concerned.
COLONY TENANTS:

At this point in my paper I wish to introduce new information from another source in the Davidson and Garden collection which I discovered when examining books and ledgers listed under the reference MS2769/I/76/2. At the back of a ledger, written presumably by one of the overseers or factors of the Balquhain estates, entitled “Rental Book of the Estates of Balquhain, Fetternear and Insch, 1852 to 1890”, which has the reference mark “4” on the outside cover, I found four pages of handwritten notes on blue writing paper which had been folded and stuck into the back cover of the book. These pages listed the names of Colonists and others living on Bennachie in 1859 together with details of the leases which were being imposed on them, the size of their holdings and the rents they were to pay. This list is the earliest indication to my knowledge of the individuals who were living in the Bennachie Colony following the division of the Commonty by the local estate owners in that year.

The heading on this document was “Conditions of Letting Crofts along the Clochie Burn and Kewlie How on Benachie”. The conditions being imposed on the Colonists were as follows:
1. “The Leases of this Crofts [sic] are to be subject to the general printed conditions of the Balquhain Estates, in so far as applicable thereto, and in so far as they are hereby attested”
2. “The Leases to be for One year from Whitsunday Eighteen hundred and Fiftynine”

3. “Each Tenant is obliged on or before the Term of Whitsunday, Eighteen hundred and Sixty to Cut a Ditch along his entire boundry [sic] Two and a half feet deep, Six feet wide at the top and One foot in the bottom, also to improve by Trenching, and in as far as necessary Draining, at least One half Acre during the said Lease, and during every succeeding year, in which he may be allowed to sit, until the whole land within his boundry [sic] shall be improved: under the penalty of being removed at the first Term following his failure so to do: without prejudice to the Proprietor’s right to prosecute a Removal at any Term of Whitsunday, without reason assigned”
4. “The Tenants are to have no Claims for Value of Houses or on any other account at removal”

As indicated above these conditions were also governed by the “general printed conditions” which were in force for all tenants living on the Balquhain Estates. These conditions run to several pages and are quite prescriptive as to the duties of tenants but not all of them would have been relevant to the Colonist’s small holdings on the slopes of Bennachie. For example a printed lease from 1881 for a John Forbes and two others, which is also conserved in the Davidson and Garden collection under the reference MS2769/I/76/1, makes it quite clear what was expected of tenant farmers elsewhere on the estate.
Under article three of the lease tenants were required to rotate their crops under a fifth or sixth shift system and to divide their holding into five or six fields so that different crops would be growing in the different fields at any one time. The lease stipulates that in the first year of the shift system oats were to be grown followed in year two by a “drilled green crop”, [such as turnips]. Year three was to be oats again or barley with years four and five being grass. Failure to comply with this requirement would result in a fine at that time of three pounds an acre for each of the fields not in compliance with the agreed system. This fine applied not only for the year concerned but also for every year thereafter for the remainder of the lease and if the proprietor chose to do so the tenant might also be prosecuted for “damages for miscropping”.
Based on the size of the holdings which the Colonists were cultivating on the slopes of Bennachie it is obvious that such a condition would not have applied to them. No doubt however the overseers or factors employed by the estate owner would have tried to impose their will on the colonists by making them comply as much as possible to the terms of the general lease which applied to all other tenants.

The following chart shows who was living on the Colony in 1859, the location and size of their holding and the rents being imposed on them for the houses they had built themselves: 
	Name of tenant
	Name and size of holding
	Rent

	Alex. Porter
	House and yard at the north west corner of Backward.
	One pound sterling yearly.

	Ellen Esson
	Houses and croft of one acre, two roods and ten poles or thereby.
	One pound sterling yearly.

	John Esson
	Croft consisting of five acres, two roods and fifteen poles.
	Two pounds, ten shillings sterling yearly. Three pounds, fifteen shillings after ten years.

	James Esson
	Croft on the Burnside of eight acres, two roods and one pole.
	Two pounds, ten shillings sterling yearly. Three pounds, fifteen shillings after ten years.

	James Mitchell
	Croft no.5 on the plan, in connection with Isobel Smith’s houses.
	One pound, five shillings sterling yearly. One pound, seventeen shillings and six pence after ten years.

	Alex. Littlejohn
	Croft of three acres, one rood and twenty two poles or thereby.
	Two pounds sterling yearly.

	John Garden
	Croft of nine acres, two roods and three poles or thereby.
	One pound, five shillings sterling yearly. Three pounds yearly after ten years

	John McDonald
	Croft of eleven acres, thirty four poles or thereby.
	Three pounds, ten shillings yearly. Five pounds, seven shillings and six pence after ten years.

	Susan Findlayter(sic)
	House and yard.
	One pound sterling.


As can be seen from the above list nine tenants were listed as holding leases on Bennachie from the Balquhain Estate in the factor’s ledger dated 1859. In the rental book which commences in 1875 however there were only seven leaseholders remaining on the hill. These individuals were as follows: John Esson, Susan Findlater, James Garden, Alexander Littlejohn, James Littlejohn, Margaret McDonald and Alexander Porter. Between 1859 and 1875 therefore, for whatever reason, Ellen Esson, James Esson and James Mitchell have departed from the scene but James Littlejohn has joined the list of leaseholders. Further discussion about these changes will be covered later in this paper. In subsequent years their numbers declined as shown below.

1876/1877: Seven lease holders are listed as above, John Esson, Susan Findlater, James Garden, Alexander Littlejohn, James Littlejohn, Margaret McDonald and Alexander Porter.

1877/1878: Three individuals are recorded as holding leases, John Esson, Susan Findlater and Alexander Porter. James Garden seems to have left the colony voluntarily during the year, perhaps due to his being in arrears with his rent, whilst the Littlejohns are shown to have been evicted due to their refusal or inability to pay their rent. Margaret McDonald may also have been evicted for similar reasons or left the Colony of her own volition before such action could be taken.

1878 to 1884, when the rental book finishes: John Esson, Susan Findlater and Alexander Porter continue to hold leases with no rent arrears being recorded against them during this period.
ANOMALIES:
When it came to writing this section of the paper it became clear that there were a number of anomalies in the information given in the rental book about the Colonists and what had been written about them in Jennifer Fagen’s book, The Bennachie Colony Project. Had Fagen been aware of the existence of the Balquhain rental book no doubt she would have used this source to augment the extensive information she had gathered about the Colonists in her book. What follows therefore is not a criticism of what Fagen has accomplished but an attempt to use the information gleaned from the rental book and other documents in the Davidson and Garden collection to complement her work. It is hoped therefore that the following discussion will clarify a number of issues and extend our understanding of what was happening in the Colony and on Bennachie in the period in question. 

1. LEASES:
Although the rental book in 1875 states that James Littlejohn’s lease started in 1859, as it does for all but two of the other colony tenants who are on yearly leases, it is unlikely that his lease started in that year since his name does not appear on any of the Oyne or Chapel of Garioch census data for 1861 or 1871. This anomaly over start dates also occurs with James Garden and Margaret McDonald who are also stated in the rental book as having leases beginning in 1859. This does not fit with the information given by Fagen about when these folk might have taken over the running of their crofts which in the case of Margaret McDonald was presumably 1870 when her father died. In the case of James Garden, Fagen says Jane Garden moved off Bennachie in 1873/74 or thereabouts and the lease was apparently taken over by her son. It is assumed that the lease of this croft had transferred to her name in 1864 on the death of her husband John Garden as she is listed as the head of the household in the 1871 census. Interestingly James does not appear on the list of family members in the 1871 census. He must therefore have left home prior to 1871 and returned sometime between 1871 and 1875 when he appears as the leaseholder in the rental book.
2. ALEXANDER PORTER:

As an example of a further anomaly it is interesting to note that Alexander Porter appears in the “blue pages” of the 1859 ledger as one of the tenants holding a lease on “Benachie” along with eight of the Colonists some of whose names are also listed in the rental book for the years 1875 to 1884. No mention is made however of this individual anywhere in Fagen’s book until 1885 when he appears for the first and only time on a chart based on information gathered from the valuation rolls for the area for the period 1860 to 1901, [Fagen, page 94]. 

Examination of census data for Chapel of Garioch parish however shows that there was an Alexander Porter, born in Huntly, Aberdeenshire who worked as an agricultural labourer and was present in the area during the period 1841 to 1881. During this time he is recorded as living at one or more farms in the area which are listed below. It should be indicated here that it is extremely difficult at times to decipher some of the handwriting on the census forms so it may be that my spelling of some of the farm names may not be correct. I am grateful for advice given to me by Colin Miller of the Bennachie Landscapes Project as to the possible identity of some of these farm names but any errors which remain are entirely my responsibility. 

1. 1841, Alex. Porter and family are recorded as living at Burntcows which appears between the farms Broadsea and Westertoun of Braco on the census list.

2. 1851, Alex. Porter and family are listed as living at a farm which appears to read “Backward of Hill” but might in fact be “Backward of Tullos”. This farm appears on the census list between Cappernook and Westerton.

3. 1861, Alex. Porter and family are living at Ward of Tullos which appears between Woodside of Braco and Dorlethan.

4. 1871, Alex. Porter and family are living at Hillside which appears between Dorlethan and Westerton.

5. 1881, Alex. Porter and family are living at Wardhead of Tullos which appears between Tullos Cottage and Dorlethan.

Whether these are one and the same farm, as has been suggested, or different farms, it is clear from the recent discovery of the "blue pages" that Alex. Porter was granted a lease in 1859 of a house and yard at "the north west corner of the Backward" either along the “Clochie Burn” or at “Kewlie How” and was therefore very close to where the colonists on Bennachie were living at that time. He and his family are not included in any of the census data or other information given by Fagen about members of the Colony living on Bennachie. Mr Porter and his family are known however to have been living on the hill between 1859 and 1884 as his name appears in the rental book of Balquhain Estate for this entire period. He is also listed in the Chapel of Garioch census returns between these dates as living at a farm or farms in the vicinity of other properties known to be on or near the hill.

The answer to this puzzle appears to be that this gentleman was separated from the other folks in the Colony by the Oyne/Chapel of Garioch parish boundary. The line of this boundary we know from sources quoted by Fagen and others was in dispute for many years between the two parishes as no one wanted the responsibility or expense of dealing with any “paupers” among the squatters who were likely to require assistance from parish funds. This dispute was eventually resolved in 1851 according to Fagen, [page21], by Robert Ledingham, (who as far as is known is not a direct relation to the present author), Advocate for Oyne. He determined that Oyne Parish was responsible for Poor Law administration for those living in the Colony at the east end of Bennachie. He stated that the proper boundary between the two parishes was formed by the “old road, which was formerly the ‘Chapel of Garioch and Monymusk Road’ which passed the Clachie burn and went along the east dykes of Craignathunder”. The "blue pages" recently discovered make reference to the “Clochie Burn and Kewlie How on Benachie” which suggests the two areas were distinct but close together. This boundary dispute may explain the omission of Alex. Porter’s name from the list of Colony members in other writings. 

One further point about Mr Porter which needs to be made is that his name appears in Rev. N. L. A. Campbell’s “Story of ‘The Colony’ on Bennachie” which is included in the Book of Bennachie published by the Bailies of Bennachie in 1976. On page 105, Rev. Campbell states that Sandy Porter “had built for himself a house and enclosed a garden at Kewlie, just below the commonty on the Fetternear estate”. This would appear to be around the year 1859 as Rev. Campbell makes reference to rents being paid at that time by other colonists of a similar sum to that paid by Mr Porter. Since the “blue pages” in the Balquhain rental book state that Mr Porter was a tenant “on Benachie” in 1859, not Fetternear, and he is included with the folk in the Colony as being on Benachie in the rental book for the period 1875 to 1884 it would seem that the only reason he has not been seen up to now as one of the Colonists is due to the confusion about the parish boundary between Oyne and Chapel of Garioch. It is suggested therefore that Alexander Porter should be regarded as a fully paid-up member of the Bennachie Colony and his name added to the list of other well known individuals who were living on the hill at the time.

3. JAMES GARDEN:

It is also of interest that a James Garden appears on the list of tenants in the rental book for the year 1875/76 despite there being no mention of such an individual being a leaseholder or tenant on Bennachie in Jennifer Fagen’s book on the Colony. She does give information on page 32, taken from the 1851 census, that there was a son James living with the Garden family at that time but he does not appear thereafter. Whether the James Garden listed as a tenant in the rental book in 1875 is the same individual mentioned by Fagen and was related to John Garden and his wife Jean is impossible to say but on the balance of probability it is highly likely that he was Jean Garden’s son. 

In the list of tenants being required to sign leases for their crofts and dwellings on Bennachie in 1859 according to the “blue pages” John Garden’s name appears which would tally with the information given by Fagen that this family was already established on the Colony by that date.

One final point needs to be mentioned about Mrs Garden’s first name as it is given by Fagen, [page 32], as Jean in 1851, 1861 and 1871 but in the text which follows Fagen calls her Jane. In the 1851 census quoted by Fagen, [page 61] Mrs Garden appears as Jean but in the census details for 1861 and 1871, she is registered as Jane. Perhaps Jean liked to be called Jane at times or there was an error on the part of the census enumerator. According to Donald Whyte in his book Scottish Forenames, published by Birlinn in 2005, “In Scotland many girls registered as Jane are called Jean”, [page 115] and presumably the reverse is also the case. It could be however that with the birth of a daughter, who appears in the 1861 census return aged seven called Jean, it was decided that Mrs Garden should change her first name to Jane in order to avoid confusion for the family and others. It does seem to be rather curious however that Fagen should not have made reference to the changes of Mrs Garden’s first name in the census information she quotes and in her text.
4. MARGARET McDONALD:

One further anomaly concerns the colonist Margaret McDonald. Fagen states, [pages 44 and 52], that Margaret was a member of the Free Church of Scotland from 1864 to 1875 but that as her name did not appear on the Communion Roll after 1875 she must have left the area in that year. The Balquhain rental book however shows a Margaret McDonald occupying a croft on Bennachie from 1875 to sometime in the financial year 1877/78 when she is recorded as being in rent arrears amounting to fourteen pounds, fifteen shillings and three old pence. It may well be therefore that she was evicted from her croft in that year along with the Littlejohn families, who also had rent arrears, or she left before this action could be carried out. In any case Fagen cannot be criticized for making the above assumption as she could not have been aware of the contents or existence of the Balquhain rental book information. It could of course be that this is a different Margaret McDonald to the one listed by Fagen since she indicates that the McDonalds were a relatively prosperous family who did not make application to the Poor Law authorities at any time for assistance. From the evidence in the rental book however it would appear that this is the same Margaret McDonald who took over the running of the croft on the death of her father John McDonald in 1870 as indicated previously by Fagen, [page 44].

The rental book shows that Margaret was in arrears of rent from the first entry in 1875/76 which amounted to eleven pounds, six shillings and five old pence. Based on the assumption, as was the case for other tenants, that her rent had been the same for a number of years of five pounds, seven shillings and six old pence it would seem that Margaret first got into difficulties in the rental year 1873/74. Why this happened and whether she was evicted or left the Colony before such action could take place is impossible to say without further information being discovered about this chain of events.

5. OTHER FOLKS:

Fagen, [page7], indicates that there were thirty-four individuals remaining in the Colony by 1871 living in nine separate households. Heads of these households are quoted as being John Esson, John Christie, Alexander Lindsay, Hugh Gordon Littlejohn, Alexander Littlejohn, Jane Garden, James Esson, Margaret McDonald and Susan Findlater. The rental book starting in 1875 however does not mention John Christie, Alex.Lindsay, James Esson or Hugh Littlejohn as being leaseholders which their status as heads of household in the 1871 census might have suggested they would be. Their status or presence on the hill between 1871 and 1875 had obviously changed for some reason.

John Christie, according to Fagen, [page 16], was evicted by Colonel Leslie in 1860 and moved into one half of John Esson’s old house where he was supported by the Oyne Parochial Board. She indicates that the Board made various efforts to get the family to assist their father without much success and eventually in 1877 they withdrew their support due to his refusal to move to the Poor House in Aberdeen. John Christie is stated in his death certificate to have died in October 1878 in his own home on “the east end of Benachie”. It would appear therefore that he had been living on Bennachie for many years but did not have a lease from the Balquhain estate as his name did not appear in the “blue pages” in 1859 or in the rental book from 1875 to 1878 when he died. The fact that John Christie had been evicted in 1860 and was recorded as being a pauper might explain his absence from the rental book. It may be therefore that he had the status of “tenant at will” as opposed to leaseholder and therefore did not justify having a lease. Ian Carter in Farm life in Northeast Scotland 1840 - 1914, [page 65], says “It was common, therefore, for crofters to hold shorter leases than small farmers to hold from year to year, or to have no leases at all and sit as tenants at will”. He goes on to say “At this point crofters shade into the class below, squatters”. 
There is a major problem however with the census information relating to John Christie. In the 1851 return for Chapel of Garioch he is described as being 62 years of age and born in Menmor, Forfar. In the 1861 return for Oyne he is described as having been born in Marykirk, Kincardineshire and to be aged 70. In the Oyne return for 1871 he is stated to be 73 years of age and to have been born in what looks like Menmuir or Minmuir, Forfarshire. Wrong information about John’s place of birth has either been given to the enumerator completing the census in 1861, or they have made a mistake when completing the census return. In 1871 he should be 82 years of age, not 73 if he was aged 62 in 1851. It may be that this is a different John Christie in 1871 to the one recorded earlier or he was somewhat careless with the information given to the enumerator. Either way it is yet another wee anomaly to tease out.
Alex. Lindsay is reported to have died by the 2nd of February 1876 according to the minutes of the Parochial Board quoted by Fagen, [page 36]. It is not clear however if he was still on Bennachie when he died. He is not shown in the rental book as being a leaseholder during the financial year 1875/76 which finished on the 31st of July 1876. This suggests he was no longer on the hill at his death or that he had not in fact been a leaseholder and may also have been a “tenant at will” due to his status as a pauper. 
James Esson, according to Fagen, [page 30], and his family most likely migrated out of the country at some point between 1871 and 1881. This might well explain his absence from the Balquhain rental book in 1875.
Hugh Littlejohn’s situation has already been covered under the heading Rent Arrears earlier in this paper.

6. VALUATION ROLLS:   

The fact that none of the colonists appear on the valuation rolls until 1885 may at first sight seem rather curious. No explanation is given by Fagen as to why this is the case when it is quite clear that nine tenants were paying rent and had leases from the Balquhain estate in 1859 and from 1875 onwards there were seven leaseholders as indicated by the rental book. The reason for this omission however would appear to be that tenants whose property valuation was less than £4 per annum were not included by name on the valuation rolls. For example the roll for 1874 for Oyne records under the heading “Description of subjects” for various parts of the estate that “Houses and yards under £4” were occupied by “Sundry tenants” with no names being given. This practice would appear to be followed in the case of other valuation rolls over the years. One anomaly here however is that Margaret McDonald was paying more than four pounds in rent in the year 1875/76 yet her name does not appear on the valuation roll so perhaps some other mechanism was at work when such rolls were compiled. Why the Colonists should appear on the 1885 valuation roll when their rents were less than £4 raises another question which might merit further investigation.
CONCLUSION:
The rental book and other material held in the archives at Aberdeen University have been a veritable goldmine of information about day to day and year to year transactions on the Balquhain estates in Aberdeenshire in the late nineteenth century. Hopefully the contents of this paper will do justice to this resource and will throw new light on what was happening at this time on and around Bennachie and will add to our knowledge of recent local history. Whilst I have attempted to be as careful as possible in transcribing information from the rental book and other sources there may be the odd error in this paper. If anyone wishes to point these out to me I am more than happy to correct them.
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